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§ 7.18 Use of inside information. 

(a) A special Commission employee 
shall not use inside information ob-
tained as a result of his or her Commis-
sion employment for unlawful private 
gain for himself or herself, or for an-
other person, either by direct action on 
the employee’s part or by counsel, rec-
ommendation, or suggestion to another 
person, particularly one with whom the 
employee has family, business, or fi-
nancial ties. For the purpose of this 
section, inside information means infor-
mation obtained under Commission au-
thority which has not become part of 
the body of public information. 

(b) A special Commission employee 
may teach, lecture, or write in a man-
ner consistent with 11 CFR 7.9 (d) and 
(e). 

§ 7.19 Coercion. 

A special Commission employee shall 
not use his or her Commission employ-
ment to coerce, or give the appearance 
of coercing, a person to provide unlaw-
ful financial benefit to himself or her-
self or to another person, particularly 
one with whom the employee has fam-
ily, business, or financial ties. 

§ 7.20 Gifts, entertainment, and favors. 

Except as provided at 11 CFR 7.8(b), a 
special Commission employee, while so 
employed or in connection with his or 
her employment, shall not receive or 
solicit from a person having business 
with the Commission anything of value 
such as a gift, gratuity, loan, enter-
tainment, or favor for himself or her-
self, or for another person, particularly 
one with whom the employee has fam-
ily, business, or financial ties. 

§ 7.21 Miscellaneous statutory provi-
sions. 

Each special Commission employee 
shall acquaint himself or herself with 
each statute that relates to his or her 
ethical or other conduct as a special 
Commission employee. Particular at-
tention should be directed to the statu-
tory provisions listed in 11 CFR 7.16. 

Subpart D—Post Employment 
Conflict of Interest: Proce-
dures for Administrative En-
forcement Proceedings 

§ 7.22 Scope. 
The following are procedures to be 

followed by the Federal Election Com-
mission in investigating and adminis-
tratively correcting violations of the 
post employment conflict of interest 
provisions contained in 18 U.S.C. 207 
(a), (b), and (c), which restrict activi-
ties of former employees, including 
former special Commission employees, 
which might give the appearance of 
undue benefit based on prior Commis-
sion employment and affiliation. 
Where appropriate for purposes of this 
subpart, former special Commission em-
ployee shall be defined in accordance 
with 18 U.S.C. 207(c)(1). 

§ 7.23 Initiation of investigation. 
(a) Filing of complaint. (1) Any person 

who believes a former employee has 
violated the post employment conflict 
of interest provisions of 18 U.S.C. 207 
(a), (b), or (c), or 5 CFR part 737 may 
file a signed complaint with the Ethics 
Officer. 

(2) The Ethics Officer, within five 
days after receipt of the complaint, 
shall send a copy of the complaint by 
certified mail to the former employee 
named in the complaint. The former 
employee may, within ten days after 
receipt of the complaint, submit any 
written legal or factual materials he or 
she believes demonstrate that the com-
plaint should be dismissed on its face. 

(b) Review of complaint. (1) The Ethics 
Officer will review the complaint and 
any materials submitted by the former 
employee, and will prepare a report to 
the Commission recommending wheth-
er the complaint should be investigated 
or should be dismissed on its face. 

(2) If the Commission, by an affirma-
tive vote of four members, finds that 
the complaint appears to be substan-
tiated, it may order an investigation of 
the allegations made in the complaint. 

(i) Except as may be required to co-
ordinate with the Department of Jus-
tice under 11 CFR 7.23(b)(2)(iii) any in-
vestigation conducted under this sec-
tion shall be kept confidential until 
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such time as the Commission has de-
termined whether there is reasonable 
cause to believe a violation has oc-
curred. 

(ii) The Ethics Officer shall notify 
the Director of the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics and the Criminal Division 
of the Department of Justice of the 
Commission’s finding that the com-
plaint has merit. The notification shall 
contain a copy of the complaint, any 
materials submitted by the former em-
ployee, the Ethics Officer’s report, and 
the certification of the Commission’s 
action. 

(iii) The Commission will coordinate 
any investigation or administrative ac-
tion with the Department of Justice to 
avoid prejudicing criminal proceedings, 
unless the Department of Justice noti-
fies the Commission that it does not 
intend to initiate criminal proceedings. 

(3) If the Commission finds the com-
plaint to be unfounded, no investiga-
tion will be conducted and both the 
complainant and the former employee 
will be notified by the Ethics Officer of 
the Commission’s finding. 

§ 7.24 Conduct of preliminary inves-
tigation. 

(a) Ethics Officer’s responsibility. Upon 
a finding under 11 CFR 7.23(b)(2) that a 
complaint appears to be substantiated, 
the Ethics Officer shall conduct an in-
vestigation into the allegations of the 
complaint. 

(b) Opportunity to respond. The former 
employee will be sent a copy of the 
Ethics Officer’s report and will be 
given an opportunity to respond in 
writing and under oath to the allega-
tions made in the complaint and the 
findings made in the report. The 
former empoloyee may provide any 
written legal or factual materials he or 
she believes demonstrate that no viola-
tion has occurred. Such response must 
be received by the Commission within 
20 days after the former employee’s re-
ceipt of the Ethics Officer’s report, un-
less an extension is authorized in writ-
ing by the Ethics Officer. 

(c) Representation by counsel. The 
former employee may be represented 
by counsel during the investigation. 
Such counsel shall notify the Ethics 
Officer in writing that he or she is rep-
resenting the former employee. There-

after, all communications between the 
Commission staff and the former em-
ployee relating to the investigation 
shall be made to the former employee’s 
counsel. 

(d) Report to the Commission. Upon 
completion of the investigation, the 
Ethics Officer shall prepare a report to 
the Commission, including any mate-
rials provided by the former employee. 
The report shall recommend whether 
there is reasonable cause to believe the 
respondent has violated 18 U.S.C. 207 
(a), (b), or (c). 

§ 7.25 Initiation of administrative dis-
ciplinary proceeding. 

(a) Commission review of report. The 
Commission shall review the Ethics Of-
ficer’s investigative report in Execu-
tive Session. 

(b) Reasonable cause to believe finding. 
If the Commission, by an affirmative 
vote of four members, determines there 
is reasonable cause to believe a viola-
tion has occurred, it shall initiate an 
administrative disciplinary proceeding 
by providing the former employee with 
the notice defined in 11 CFR 7.26. 

(c) No reasonable cause to believe find-
ing. If the Commission determines that 
there is no reasonable cause to believe 
a violation has occurred, it will close 
its file on the matter and take no fur-
ther action. The Commission shall no-
tify the Director of the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics, the Criminal Division 
of the Department of Justice, the com-
plainant, and the former employee of 
its determination. Included in this no-
tification will be a statement of rea-
sons for the Commission’s determina-
tion. 

§ 7.26 Notice to former employee. 

(a) Notice requirement. After a reason-
able cause to believe finding the Ethics 
Officer shall provide the former Com-
mission employee with adequate notice 
of an intention to institute a discipli-
nary proceeding and an opportunity to 
request a hearing. 

(b) Contents. The notice required 
under this section shall contain: 

(1) A statement of the allegations 
(and the basis thereof); 

(2) Notification of the right to re-
quest a hearing; 
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(3) An explanation of the method by 
which a hearing may be requested as 
set forth at 11 CFR 7.26(c); and 

(4) A copy of the post-employment 
regulations. 

(c) Request for hearing. (1) A former 
employee who has received a notice 
under this section must notify the 
Commission with ten days after receipt 
of such notice by certified mail of his 
or her desire for a hearing. The request 
for a hearing should include the fol-
lowing information: 

(i) The former employee’s daytime 
telephone number; 

(ii) The name, address, and telephone 
number of the former employee’s coun-
sel, if he or she intends to be rep-
resented by counsel; and 

(iii) At least three dates and times at 
which the former employee will be 
available for a hearing. 

(2) If a written request from the 
former employee is not received by the 
Ethics Officer within the stated time 
period, the right to a hearing shall be 
waived and the examiner (See 11 CFR 
7.27) shall consider the evidence and 
make a decision. 

§ 7.27 Hearing examiner designation 
and qualifications. 

(a) Designation. If the Commission de-
cides by an affirmative vote of four of 
its members to hold a hearing, the Eth-
ics Officer shall designate an individual 
to serve as examiner at the administra-
tive disciplinary hearing. In the ab-
sence of a hearing, the Ethics Officer 
shall designate an examiner to consider 
the written evidence and make a deci-
sion. (See 11 CFR 7.26(b)(2)). The indi-
vidual designated as examiner shall 
have the qualifications set forth in 
paragraph (b) of this section. 

(b) Qualifications. (1) An examiner 
shall be impartial. No individual who 
has participated in any manner in the 
decision to initiate the proceeding may 
serve as an examiner in those pro-
ceedings. Therefore, the following per-
sons may not be designated as an ex-
aminer: 

(i) A Commissioner, 
(ii) The Ethics Officer, or 
(iii) Any Commission employee who 

has participated in the preliminary in-
vestigation of the complaint. 

(2) The examiner shall be an attorney 
at the Assistant General Counsel level 
or higher. 

§ 7.28 Hearing date. 

(a) Setting of date by examiner. The ex-
aminer shall set the hearing at a rea-
sonable time, date, and place. 

(b) Considerations. Whenever prac-
ticable, the examiner shall choose a 
time and date from the list submitted 
by the former employee in the request 
for a hearing. In setting a hearing date, 
the examiner shall give due regard to 
the former employee’s need for: 

(1) Adequate time to prepare a de-
fense properly, and 

(2) An expeditious resolution of alle-
gations that may be damaging to his or 
her reputation. 

§ 7.29 Hearing rights of former em-
ployee. 

A hearing conducted under these pro-
cedures shall afford the former em-
ployee the following rights: 

(a) To represent oneself or to be rep-
resented by counsel, 

(b) To introduce and examine wit-
nesses and to submit physical evidence, 

(c) To confront and cross-examine ad-
verse witnesses, 

(d) To present oral argument, and 
(e) To request a transcript of the re-

cording of proceedings. The requester 
will be charged according to the fee 
schedule set out at 11 CFR 5.6. 

§ 7.30 Hearing procedures. 

(a) Witness lists. (1) No later than 10 
days prior to the hearing date, the Eth-
ics Officer will provide the former em-
ployee with a list of the witnesses the 
Commission intends to introduce. The 
list shall include the name and position 
of each witness and the aspect of the 
allegation upon which the witness is 
expected to testify. If no witnesses are 
to be called, the former employee shall 
be so notified. 

(2) No later than 5 days prior to the 
hearing date, the former employee 
shall provide the Ethics Officer with a 
list of witnesses he or she intends to 
introduce. The list shall include the 
name and position of each witness and 
the aspect of the allegation upon which 
the witness is expected to testify. If no 
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witnesses are to be called, the Ethics 
Officer shall be so notified. 

(3) Copies of the witness lists shall be 
given to the examiner by the Ethics Of-
ficer. 

(b) Representation. (1) The Commis-
sion shall be represented at the hearing 
by the Ethics Officer or his or her des-
ignee, 

(2) The former employee may rep-
resent himself or herself or may be rep-
resented by counsel. 

(c) Burden of proof. The burden of 
proof shall be on the Commission 
which must establish substantial evi-
dence of a violation. 

(d) Conduct of hearing. (1) The fol-
lowing items will be introduced by the 
Commission and will be made part of 
the hearing record: 

(i) The complaint; 
(ii) The notification sent to the 

former employee under 11 CFR 7.27; 
(iii) The former employee’s response 

to the notification; and 
(iv) If the Commission so chooses, a 

brief or memorandum of law. 
(2) The former employee will then be 

given an opportunity to submit a brief 
or memorandum of law to be included 
in the hearing record. 

(3) The Commission shall introduce 
its witnesses and evidence first. At the 
close of the Commission’s examination 
of each witness, the former employee 
will be given an opportunity to cross- 
examine the witness. 

(4) The former employee will present 
his or her witnesses and evidence at 
the close of the Commission’s presen-
tation. At the close of the former em-
ployee’s examination of each witness, 
the Commission shall be given an op-
portunity to cross-examine each wit-
ness. 

(5) After the former employee has 
completed his or her presentation, both 
parties will be given an opportunity for 
oral argument with the Commission 
making its arguments first. Time shall 
be offered during the oral argument for 
Commission rebuttal. 

(6) Decisions as to the admissibility 
of evidence or testimony shall be made 
under the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

§ 7.31 Examiner’s decision. 
(a) Initial determination. No later than 

15 days after the close of the hearing, 

the examiner shall make a determina-
tion exclusively on matters of record in 
the proceeding. 

(b) Form of determination. The exam-
iner’s determination shall set forth all 
findings of fact and conclusions of law 
relevant to the matters at issue. 

(c) Copies. The examiner shall provide 
copies of his or her determination to 
the former employee, the complainant, 
the Ethics Officer, and the Commis-
sion. 

§ 7.32 Appeal. 

(a) Right of appeal. Within ten days 
after receipt by certified mail of the 
examiner’s decision, either party may 
appeal such decision to the members of 
the Commission by filing a notice of 
appeal with the Chairman. 

(b) Notice of appeal. The notice of ap-
peal shall be accompanied by a memo-
randum setting forth the legal and fac-
tual reasons why the examiner’s deci-
sion should be reversed or modified. 

(c) Commission review of appeal. The 
Commission, by an affirmative vote of 
four members, may affirm, modify, or 
reverse the examiner’s decision. The 
Commission’s decision shall be based 
solely on the hearing record or those 
portions thereof cited by the parties to 
limit the issues. 

(d) Commission statement on appeal. If 
the Commission modifies or reverses 
the initial decision, it shall specify 
such findings of fact or conclusions of 
law as are different from those of the 
examiner. 

§ 7.33 Administrative sanctions. 

The Commission may take appro-
priate disciplinary action in the case of 
any individual who is found in viola-
tion of 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b), or (c) after 
a final administrative hearing, or in 
the absence of a hearing, after ade-
quate notice such as by: 

(a) Prohibiting the individual from 
making, on behalf of any person (ex-
cept the United States), any formal or 
informal appearance before, or, with 
the intent to influence, any oral or 
written communication to the Com-
mission on any matter of business for a 
period not to exceed five years, which 
may be accomplished by directing 
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agency employees to refuse to partici-
pate in any such appearance or to ac-
cept any such communication; 

(b) Issuing a letter of reprimand; 
(c) Issuing a letter of admonishment; 
(d) Prohibiting a former employee 

from making formal or informal ap-
pearances or communications in con-
nection with a particular matter or on 
behalf of a particular party. 

(e) Taking other appropriate discipli-
nary action. 

PART 8—NATIONAL VOTER REG-
ISTRATION ACT (42 U.S.C. 
1973gg–1 et seq.) 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

Sec. 
8.1 Purpose & scope. 
8.2 Definitions. 

Subpart B—National Mail Voter Registration 
Form 

8.3 General Information. 
8.4 Contents. 
8.5 Format. 
8.6 Chief state election official. 

Subpart C—Recordkeeping and Reporting 

8.7 Contents of reports from the states. 

AUTHORITY: 42 U.S.C. 1973gg–1 et seq. 

SOURCE: 59 FR 32323, June 23, 1994, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

§ 8.1 Purpose & scope. 
The regulations in this part imple-

ment the responsibilities delegated to 
the Commission under Section 9 of the 
National Voter Registration Act of 
1993, Public Law 103–31, 97 Stat. 77, 42 
U.S.C. 1973gg–1 et seq. (‘‘NVRA’’). They 
describe the format and contents of the 
national mail voter registration form 
and the information that will be re-
quired from the states for inclusion in 
the Commission’s biennial report to 
Congress. 

§ 8.2 Definitions. 
As used in this part: 
(a) Form means the national mail 

voter registration application form, 
which includes the registration appli-
cation, accompanying general instruc-

tions for completing the application, 
and state-specific instructions. 

(b) Chief state election official means 
the designated state officer or em-
ployee responsible for the coordination 
of state responsibilities under 42 U.S.C. 
1973gg–8. 

(c) Active voters means all registered 
voters except those who have been sent 
but have not responded to a confirma-
tion mailing sent in accordance with 42 
U.S.C. 1973gg–6(d) and have not since 
offered to vote. 

(d) Inactive voters means registrants 
who have been sent but have not re-
sponded to a confirmation mailing sent 
in accordance with 42 U.S.C. 1973gg–6(d) 
and have not since offered to vote. 

(e) Duplicate registration application 
means an offer to register by a person 
already registered to vote at the same 
address, under the same name, and 
(where applicable) in the same political 
party. 

(f) State means a state of the United 
States and the District of Columbia 
not exempt from coverage under 42 
U.S.C. 1973gg–2(b). 

(g) Closed primary state means a state 
that requires party registration as a 
precondition to vote for partisan races 
in primary elections or for other nomi-
nating procedures. 

Subpart B—National Mail Voter 
Registration Form 

§ 8.3 General information. 

(a) The national mail voter registra-
tion form shall consist of three compo-
nents: An application, which shall con-
tain appropriate fields for the appli-
cant to provide all of the information 
required or requested under 11 CFR 8.4; 
general instructions for completing the 
application; and accompanying state- 
specific instructions. 

(b) The state-specific instructions 
shall contain the following information 
for each state, arranged by state: the 
address where the application should 
be mailed and information regarding 
the state’s specific voter eligibility and 
registration requirements. 

(c) States shall accept, use, and make 
available the form described in this 
section. 
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